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TO THE MEMBERS OF HONG KONG PRODUCTIVITY COUNCIL
(Incorporated in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Productivity
Council Ordinance)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Productivity Council (the “Council”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 5 to 56, which comprise the
consolidated and the Council’s statements of financial position as at
31 March 2025, and the consolidated income and expenditure
account, the consolidated and the Council’'s statements of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
funds and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial positions of the Group as at 31 March 2025,
and of the financial performances of the Group and the Group's cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Productivity Council Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

02 B BANMIR S R E INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024-25



RAMBRRREZBARELSMNIERE (@

ERBAEATZIIN MREMAIA/EMBEEEFEE
KRR - OB EREZEE - TEHE > KR
BREMAEBE -

SENREEENGEMBRREAXKENTE

EENBEEBEARBEESHMASEMN (FBY
BREE) M (FBEEHREREM) BEEEM
PEMNGEMBRE  URBHIDEBYBRERAL
ZHRIIEG - LBV BRERAFERNIEFHERT
THMERERERIL -

ERAGAVBRIE  £EHREEREATNME &F
ERNFELCENED  TRERER TIHEESELE
FRMNEE URERFELELSTER  BRIELE
HEEBEAEK EXEBFRAFLEE  RNEFHEH
TEENERTE -

EZEEMHLEENRRERTEE BEERUBRE
BIZAEE -

BEMME A RN BRRAENEE

HMMBERE  REHSOUBBRREERDANGFEHNEKR
RERMERNERNFERFMERSERE  HHE
BEIMBEROZHEMESE - AREERE (FBLE
DREREF) B18EEMERMERSE o BRILLISH -
EABEETATAEEGERLE AT ERARENARR
EREAMALTE ERAEEREE

AEREBESKTHRE  BReRIERR (F8F:
A ETHNER  EE—EAHERBEFERFRES
I o FHRBRE P LU EREF R SA R 5 E - MR O EFEME
MEBSERLERTELEYBRECHAEMRBLESD
B ARFTE H B AEORTE - B A B A 55 BR Rt BT 4K AR 1
BSOS ©

ERE (FBRAER) ETRANBRS > HMER
TEEHE R TEEEFEE o KA

B AZBENR S R FE|RE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024-25

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON (Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT OF THE COUNCIL
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management of the Council are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Productivity Council Ordinance, and for
such internal control as management of the Council determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management of
the Council are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management of the Council either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the Council members in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 18 of the Hong
Kong Productivity Council Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the management of the Council.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safequards applied.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam Leong Wai (practising certificate number:
P07793).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

24 July 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#2025%3HA31H
AS AT 31 MARCH 2025

2025 2024
B &E BETFR BEFTT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME -~ BEMEE Property, plant and equipment 6 221,783 207,313
B|LEE Intangible assets 7 26,153 18,892
EHEEE Right-of-use assets 13 1,850 76
249,786 226,281
RENEE Current assets
R EEMRTEE Accounts receivable and other current assets 9 408,755 326,718
HE -  ROBRENTEHER Cash, bank balances and fixed deposits 10 3,669,558 1,860,964
4,078,313 2,187,682
mENAE Current liabilities
FERBRREEMRENAE Accounts payable and other current liabilities 11 3,568,349 1,713,799
HEAE Lease liabilities 14 452 77
BT 18 Tax payable 23(c) 25 35
3,568,826 1,713,911
FREEEFE Net current assets 509,487 473,771
BEERERDAR Total assets less current liabilities 759,273 700,052
ERBHEE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 14 1,453 20
REE Net assets 757,820 700,032
HER Total funds
SEHREEERE S REM  Capital subvention fund and reserves 755,451 697,910
attributable to the Council
JEE g AR Non-controlling interests 15(d) 2,369 2122
15 757,820 700,032

EENDBR2025F7H24 B AW TR WL o
Approved and authorised for issue by the Council on 24 July 2025.

BE$E1E
Sunny Tan
EE
Chairman

FRZ
Emil Yu Chen-on
B EFE
Deputy Chairman
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#2025%3A31H
AS AT 31 MARCH 2025

2025 2024
B EE BETFT BETT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
JERENEE Non-current assets
ME - BEMEE Property, plant and equipment 6 221,196 206,533
B EE Intangible assets 7 26,094 18,879
EHEERE Right-of-use assets 13 1,834 -
REBATINEKRE Investments in subsidiaries 8 18,722 18,722
267,846 244,134
REEE Current assets
JEWBR R R E e & &E Accounts receivable and other current assets 9 401,897 318,807
AL I ENGIE /8] Amounts due from subsidiaries 12 2,124 1,761
e RITHREMNTEER Cash, bank balances and fixed deposits 10 3,634,876 1,827,001
4,038,897 2,147,569
mEBaE Current liabilities
BRI R EMEREEE Accounts payable and other current liabilities 11 3,561,071 1,703,473
AN ENGIE @] Amounts due to subsidiaries 12 13,058 13,193
HEak Lease liabilities 14 432 -
3,574,561 1,716,666
mENEEFE Net current assets 464,336 430,903
HEERERDAR Total assets less current liabilities 732,182 675,037
JERENE R Non-current liabilities
HEEE Lease liabilities 14 1,453 -
FEE Net assets 730,729 675,037
BER Total funds 15 730,729 675,037

EEDBMNR2025F 7248 ZEWFRIZ L -

Approved and authorised for issue by the Council on 24 July 2025.

B 1E
Sunny Tan
=E
Chairman

FRER
Emil Yu Chen-on
B £ F
Deputy Chairman
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS
BE2025F3H31HLEEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

REBREEHR
Attributable to the Council
=E: JEIERR
=) A 1
BETR ShiE  RERAE BETRT HE2EEH
Capital #B%Fx BEFR 4agE Non- #%Fx
subvention Revenue Exchange B¥F3 controlling Total
fund reserve reserve Total interests funds
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R2023FE4B 1H4EER At 1 April 2023 92,969 536,031 1,049 630,049 2,003 632,052
FRERE Surplus for the year - 74,894 - 74,894 234 75,128
FREMBEUZE : Other comprehensive income
for the year:
FELEINE Tl Exchange difference on - - (1,355) (1,355) (115)  (1,470)
(eE] ) translation of financial
EXRIRENERER statements of operations in
the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC")
FRRHIRESTE Total comprehensive - 74,894 (1,355) 73,539 119 73,658
income for the year
EARERSEE) Movement in capital (5,678) - - (5,678) - (5,678)
(MzE15(a)) subvention fund (note 15(a))
R2024%E3 831 BRI R At31 March 2024 87,291 610,925 (306) 697,910 2,122 700,032
R2024F4 8 1HWAER At April 2024 87,291 610,925 (306) 697,910 2,122 700,032
FRRER Surplus for the year - 63,169 - 63,169 266 63,435
FRNEMEE W E: Other comprehensive
income for the year:
ME R ERERY Exchange difference on translation = - (229) (229) (19) (248)
ERER of financial statements of
operations in the PRC
FRZHINESTE Total comprehensive - 63,169 (229) 62,940 247 63,187
income for the year
BREEEE) Movement in capital subvention (5,399) o = (5,399) o (5,399)
(FizE15(a)) fund (note 15(a))
7R2025F3 31 B4R At31 March 2025 81,892 674,094 (535) 755,451 2,369 757,820
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
BE202543831ALEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2025 2024
Bt & BETFR BETT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KA Income
L SEEN BT B B Government subvention for recurrent 16 256,647 244,373
activities
AR 7% Ut A Service income 17 984,635 847,842
HABWA Other income 18 28,989 45,311
1,270,271 1,137,526
-2 Expenditure
B E#HE Staff emoluments 19 (592,181) (517,123)
HibF Other expenses 22 (619,923) (550,838)
=35 TR Surplus before tax 58,167 69,565
Frigf Income tax expense 23(a) (131) (115)
58,036 69,450
REXEBHSE A Transfer from capital 15(a) 5,399 5,678
subvention fund
FRRER Surplus for the year 63,435 75,128
BB Attributable to:
YEHB The Council 15(b) 63,169 74,894
JEIERRRERE Non-controlling interests 15(d) 266 234
63,435 75,128
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE2025F3A31HLERE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2025 2024
BETR BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREE Surplus for the year 63,435 75,128
HtZmigaE Other comprehensive income
RENERENBEZWREIE Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified
BEREMEZEmILE to income and expenditure account in subsequent periods:
HEREARSEME( [FE]) Exchange differences on translation of financial (248) (1,470)
EBUBRERNEREE statements of operations in the People’s
Republic of China
FREMZEIE (RiE) Other comprehensive income (248) (1,470)
for the year, net of tax
FRAZHINET Total comprehensive income for the year 63,187 73,658
WER : Attributable to:
EEHE The Council 62,940 73,539
JEfE Rt Non-controlling interests 247 119
63,187 73,658
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE2025%3A31HLERE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2025 2024
Bt & BETFR BT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KA Income
L SEEN BT B B Government subvention for recurrent 16 256,647 244,373
activities

AR 7S U A Service income 17 955,450 810,144
Hbug A Other income 18 28,722 44,922
1,240,819 1,099,439

-2 Expenditure
B E#HE Staff emoluments 19 (579,477) (507,003)
HibF Other expenses 22 (605,650) (527,907)
BB R ER Surplus before tax 55,692 64,529
5 Income tax expense 23(a) o -
55,692 64,529
WEREBHESEA Transfer from capital 15(a) 5,399 5,678

subvention fund

FREBRZEIRZE Surplus and total comprehensive 15(b) 61,091 70,207

income for the year
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BE2025%3831HLER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2025 2024
Bt & BETR BT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
RETHEENRSREE Cash flows from operating activities 58,167 69,565
PRAR I 2R B Surplus before tax
HEEIE Adj for:
: Jeimentsor 18 (12,314) (12,877)
FEUA Interest income
HEEEZNE Interest expense on lease liabilities 22 106 5
ME - BEMEENLERBE Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 22 349 977
BREENLEEERRE Loss on disposals of intangible asset 22 5 -
e Depreciation 22 44,269 38,537
1 5 Amortisation 22 14,677 8,563
ZEBEERE Provision for expected credit losses 9(c) 325 141
CESREDNZEEREG Operating surplus 105,584 104,911
before working capital changes
FEWBE ZR AN B R BN B ERIIE AN Increase in accounts receivable and (82,362) (47,482)
other current assets
ZRIBE (38M) /ED (Increase)/decrease in restricted cash (1,794,073) 150,193
FE(TRRFR AN E AR M EN B ERVIE IO/ Increase/(decrease) in 1,854,550 (135,065)
GRE ) accounts payable and other current liabilities
REEENIRE Cash generated from operations 83,699 72,557
B EDEMRSR PRC corporate income tax paid 23(c) (140) (107)
RETHEENRESRETE Net cash from operating activities 83,559 72,450
BREFHELENHAIRE Cash flows from investing activities
[EALEUPSS Interest received 12,314 12,877
=EBA U EEEAEIRAY (Eh0) Decrease/(increase) in fixed deposits with original maturities 198, 591 (4,823)
over 3 months
HEYE MEMRMEFTSINIE  Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and
equipment 20 90
BEYWE BEMRME Purchase of property, plant and equipment (58,595) (54,750)
BEEEEE Purchase of intangible assets (21,944) (13,813)
REEHEE/ (ER) B Net cash from/(used in) 130,386 (60,419)
NEREREE investing activities
RMEFHRERE Cash flows from financing activities
EX(THEERENANEI D Interest element of lease rentals paid 14 (106) (5)
EXTHEEHRENE RIS Capital element of lease rentals paid 14 (485) (530)
REEHEAMNREREFE Net cash used in financing activities (591) (535)
RE RIS EBYILINELE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 213,354 11,496
WERIRSEBYEI Y 528 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 174,550 165,306
BE R A B AY 52 &8 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (243) (2,252)
HERRSSEYIRGE Cash and cash equivalents at 10 387,661 174,550

end of year
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1. £EHRMEREA

EBEENRER ([£EANB]) R—XBNEHE
B 1967 ERE (FEBEENRERKEA) BRI -
AENDBAMREREMEZLE BN U BT ENE
EZBR/SMEENKIE -

SENBEREWBRR (B [EEH] ) WEIEXBE
RERSEED  FREEHHANABER » WiBBHH
HEREEY  HEAEM REEGERSABTIREL
BB -

Mt AR EE

EENBHWEBARMFIBNT

=] = ==
GEMIEHRERMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE202543831ALERE

31 MARCH 2025

1. COUNCIL AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Council is a subvented body corporate established in 1967
under the Hong Kong Productivity Council Ordinance. The address of
its registered office and principal place of operation is at HKPC
Building, 78 Tat Chee Avenue, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Council and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) are to promote increased productivity,
encourage the more efficient utilisation of resources, and to advise
measures designed to increase productivity via development or
dissemination of programmes, methods or techniques for the
business sectors in Hong Kong.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Council’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Ex ] =X R 3L % BEITR SEEE HEEND
Name BiENRY ERES fEa REHR HBAR
Place of Particulars of Group’s Held BE IEEE
incorporation issued and effective by the Held by Principal
and operation registered capital interest Council subsidiaries activities
EEDRE (BR) FB #%10,0007 100% 100% - BEBEEHRER
BIRATE BREEARESIL
HKPC Technology Hong Kong HK$10,000 Commercialisation
(Holdings) of patents project
Conmzey e deliverables of HKPC
dEH (BER) B #20,000,00075 100% 100% - wEER
BRAF Investment holding
Productivity Hong Kong HK$20,000,000
(Holdings) Limited
£ EH (BE) Hh #5,000,0007T 100% - 100%  EER RIEIIARFS
RG] Consultancy and
Productivity PRC HK$5,000,000 training services
(Dongguan)
Consulting Co. Ltd.
£E&EH CFRID R 1,610,000 100% - 100%  EER RIEIIARFS
BB RA T Consultancy and
Productivity PRC HK$1,610,000 training services
(Shenzhen)
Consulting Co. Ltd.
FICERBEEAD MR AK#1,540,00078 64.94% - 64.94% B P R 35 I AR 75
EWBHRAF Consultancy and
Shenzhen SZ-HK PRC RMB1,540,000 training services
Productivity
Foundation Co. Ltd.
YR BEED H AR#50,00078 64.94% - 100%  3EFIARTS
B b= =D Training services
Shenzhen SZ-HK PRC RMB50,000
Productivity
Foundation

Training Institute
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Agreement related to Hong Kong Industrial Artificial
Intelligence and Robotics Centre Limited (“FLAIR”)

FLAIR was incorporated as a company limited by guarantee with the
Council as the sole member.

FLAIR aims to develop innovative solutions on artificial intelligence
and robotics technologies to promote intelligent manufacturing for
Hong Kong enterprises.

Although the Council is the sole member of FLAIR, the Council has
not consolidated the results of FLAIR since under the terms of the
agreement entered into with the Government, the Council is not
exposed to, and does not have the rights or the power to affect
variable returns from its involvement with FLAIR.

Hong Kong Productivity Council Shenzhen Innovation
and Technology Centre (Futian) (“SITC”)

SITC was formed as an institution with the Council as one of the
founders. SITC aims to provide non-profit making public services
relating to the application of innovation and technology and
support the development of the Greater Bay Area.

According to the relevant law and regulations of the People’s
Republic of China, an institution has no shareholders or members,
accordingly no profits can be distributed to the Council. As the
Council is not exposed to, and does not have the rights or the power
to affect variable returns from its involvement with SITC, the Council
has not consolidated the results of SITC.
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(a) Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards

The following amendments to existing standards (collectively the
“revised HKFRS Accounting Standards”) were required to be adopted
by the Group for the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
"2020 Amendments") and
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments")
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Leases — Lease liability in a sale
and leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Statement of cash flows
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures: Supplier finance
arrangements

None of these revised HKFRS Accounting Standards had a material
effect on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

(b) New HKFRS Accounting Standards
which are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new or amended standards,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rate: Lack of

exchangeability'

9k K
EBMBHREERNET R
(BBMBREER)
BRFEAF EDGE
EBMBREERE 185

EBMBREERNE 195

DI ERERT?

£11182

MBMEOET R ER>

tRTEEWBAR :

11220251 B1 B &R FEER A
2/R2026% 1B 1 B2 &R FEIAR AN
SHR2027%1 B 1 BRZ BB FEIABAEN

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting Standards
HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Financial instruments:
disclosures — Amendments to
the classification and
measurement of financial
instruments?

Volume 112

Presentation and disclosure in
financial statements?

Subsidiaries without public
accountability: disclosures?

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New HKFRS Accounting Standards
which are not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the progress of making an assessment of the impact
of these revised HKFRS Accounting Standards upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that the adoption of these
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Productivity Council Ordinance.

(b) Basis of preparation of financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, under the historical cost convention and are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (*HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except where otherwise indicated.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Council and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”). A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Council. Control is
achieved when the Council has power over the investee, is exposed
or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Council, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenditure and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the Council and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in the income and expenditure account. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to the income and expenditure account or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

In the Council's statement of financial position, investment in
subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment losses.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Council, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary's net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within total funds, separately from
funds attributable to the Council. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
income and expenditure account and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total surplus or deficit
and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the Council.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Hong Kong Productivity Council Building 50 years
("HKPC Building")

Leasehold improvements
- Office 10 years
- Non-office 3 years

Furniture and equipment 3to 10 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

The gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and is recognised in the income and expenditure account on
the date of retirement or disposal.

(c) Intangible assets

Intangible assets mainly comprise computer software. Computer
software costs are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring to use the specific software and are stated in the
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of computer
software is charged to the income and expenditure account on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives of 3 years.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Leases

The Group as a lessee

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the
lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost (which comprises the initial measurement of lease
liabilities, initial direct costs, reinstatement costs, any payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received), and subsequently at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is recognised
using the effective interest method.

Payments associated with short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and low value leases are recognised on a
straight-line basis as expenses in the income and expenditure account.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income is recognised in the income and expenditure account on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets

The Group assesses an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL")
for all debt instruments stated at cost or amortised cost. ECL are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECL. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group has
established an allowance matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify indications that the intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows independently
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (for example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation can
be done on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure
account if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal, or value-in-use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses

Animpairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. A
reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the income and expenditure account in the year in which
the reversals are recognised.

(f) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for impairment.

(g) Accounts payable and accruals

Accounts payable and accruals are initially recognised at fair value
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of original maturities when placed.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly
within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in
which the employees render the related service. Short term
employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are
recognised as an expense in the income and expenditure account
when the services are rendered by the employees.

(j) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the income
and expenditure account except to the extent that they relate to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
funds, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in funds, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets
and liabilities, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in
an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of
the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the
expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which is
determined based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the
obligation under that contract and an allocation of other costs
directly related to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is
established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

(I) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the income and expenditure, if applicable,
can be measured reliably, income is recognised in the income and
expenditure account as follows:

(i) Government subventions

Government subventions for recurrent activities are recognised as
income in the income and expenditure account when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching with them and that the subventions will be
received. Government subventions that compensate the Group for
expenditure incurred are recognised as income in the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenditure are incurred. Unspent subventions for
recurrent activities arising in the financial year will be retained by
the Council as reserves up to a limit as agreed with the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ("the
Government"). Amount in excess of the limit will be returned to the
Government in the following financial year.
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4. EHEE (@
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
() Income recognition (Continued)

(ii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

(iii) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from service contracts is recognised when control of
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Service income is generally recognised over time, using an input
method to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group or the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
services. Where the criteria for over-time recognition are not met,
service income is recognised at a point in time when control of the
service is transferred to the customer.

(m) Contract assets

A contact asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
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4. EHEE (@
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or an
amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

(o) Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment, or intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a
contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(i) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify.

(ii) The costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that will
be used in satisfying performance obligations in the future.

(iii)The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
income and expenditure account on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset related
is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

(p) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the month are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the average rate for that month.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchanges rates ruling at the reporting
date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income and
expenditure account.

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated to Hong Kong dollars at the
closing foreign exchange rate at the reporting date.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the exchange
reserve.
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4. BEBUR (8 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) ExEBE (q) Capital subvention fund
J./{ HIJ FEEEANEMNAEBRHEBEENEEEZLE The capital subvention fund accumulated from the prior years to
BB ENEET A EREREREERH o compensate the Group for the costs of the subvented assets is

recognised in the income and expenditure account over the useful
lives of the subvented assets.

(r) BRAESA L (r) Related parties
(a) MWEALEUTHH (a) A personoraclose member of that person’s family is related
Bz A+ s Hin s AEE G/ E to the Group if that person:
(i) mE|sy L E RS EH (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) HEBBEAFZLH 5 (i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) REBEMEAREREEAS - (iii)  is @ member of key management personnel
of the Group.
(b) MU EMIEEER B ESEEEKREEBRIE (b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:
() ZBBEEAEEAR—SEENKE - (i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group.
(i) F—ERASF—FTENHMEQATINEELE (i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
(RAE—EERENHEATRNG LD other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
e O mram = . a member of a group of which the other entity
X MaE—BBTAKE) is a member).
(i) BEEHEEYERER—F=ZANEE1LE - (iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) EbF—=REBEEBREF=- HFERENEELE "M (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
P FEAEE - SEENHESAT - other entity is an associate of the third entity.
(v) ZEBELA $$@jgﬁg$$@ﬁfﬁ | (v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
BEGBANMAENERZENtR o benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
(vi) ZEBEBRZZE(a)M7IBALTEHSHLERZES - (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
(vii) BREZE(a)(i) 247 Eﬂj\iﬁgx%%@%ﬁiﬁﬂ’m (vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
HRAZEE (KZBEFSAT) WIS over the entity or is a member of key management
A o personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
(viil) ZEEBEMBEEERNTERNXREAT B ALE (viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
EEHTESEASR part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period are
described below.

Estimate of revenue and costs of work

Depending on the terms of individual contract of services, the Group
recognises its service income over time if the Group has met the
criteria in paragraph 35 of HKFRS 15 or at a point in time when the
control of the assets is transferred to the customer. For service
income recognised over time, the Group reviews and revises the
estimates of contract revenue and contract costs prepared for each
contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted service income is
determined in accordance with the terms set out in the relevant
contracts. Budgeted service costs which mainly comprise staff costs
and costs of materials are prepared by experienced management. In
order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews on the management budgets by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for
financial assets at amortised cost is an area that requires
significant assumptions about future economic conditions and
credit behaviour.

Significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting
requirements for measuring expected credit loss, such as:

-Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; and

-Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the
measurement of expected credit losses.

Where the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the financial
assets at amortised cost and credit loss expenses in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

BE2025%3A31HLEE
31 MARCH 2025

6.¥3% - BEMRE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

L]
The Group
$&hH HERTF EREYEH
xig eI BT
BETR BETR Furniture B
HKPC Leasehold and BETR
Building improvements equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2025%¢3H31H 31 March 2025
FR{E: Cost
R2024F481H At 1 April 2024 267,854 163,573 247,063 678,490
= Additions - 15,822 42,773 58,595
HE Disposals - (18) (17,587) (17,605)
Hh 5 2L Exchange adjustments _ (8) (14) (22)
R2025%€3H31H At 31 March 2025 267, 854 179, 369 272, 235 719,458
EE Accumulated depreciation
R2024%481H At 1 April 2024 180,502 100,110 190,565 471,177
FEE Charge for the year 5,346 16,814 21,590 43,750
€ 5 o] Written back on disposals - (18) (17,218) (17,236)
Hh 5 2L Exchange adjustments _ (8) (8) (16)
R2025%F3H31H At 31 March 2025 185,848 116,898 194,929 497,675
BREFE Net book value
7R2025#3H31H At 31 March 2025 82,006 62,471 77,306 221,783
2024%3A831H 31 March 2024
FE: Cost
R2023FE4B1H At 1 April 2023 267,854 139,072 261,789 668,715
B Additions - 33,445 21,305 54,750
& Disposals - (8,897) (35,921) (44,818)
Hh & 2 2K Exchange adjustments _ (47) (110) (157)
R2024F3H31H At 31 March 2024 267,854 163,573 247,063 678,490
ZiHineE Accumulated depreciation
R2023F4H81H At 1 April 2023 175,157 95,366 206,496 477,017
FEERE Charge for the year 5,345 13,628 19,079 38,052
€ 5 o] Written back on disposals _ (8,837) (34,939) (43,776)
Hh 5 F 2L Exchange adjustments _ (47) (71) (118)
R2024%E3H831H At 31 March 2024 180,502 100,110 190,565 471,177
REFRE Net book value
R2024%E3H31H At 31 March 2024 87,352 63,463 56,498 207,313
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6.M% - BEMZE (8 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

EEHR
The Council
EED HERF RIARSEE
Kig METRE BETFR
BETT BETFT Furniture BE
HKPC Leasehold and BETT
Building improvements equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2025%¥3H31H 31 March 2025
[R{E: Cost
R2024FE481H At 1 April 2024 267,854 162,797 245,230 675,881
nE Additions - 15,823 42,906 58,729
HE Disposals = (18) (17,441) (17,459)
R2025%€3B31H At 31 March 2025 267, 854 178, 602 270, 695 717,151
Z:HRE Accumulated depreciation
R2024FE4B1H At 1 April 2024 180,502 99,334 189,512 469,348
EEINE Charge for the year 5,346 16,815 21,554 43,715
e 12 o] Written back on disposals _ (18) (17,090) (17,108)
R2025%€3H831H At 31 March 2025 185,848 116,898 194,929 497,675
BRERE Net book value
R2025€3H831H At 31 March 2025 82,006 62,471 76,719 221,196
2024%3B31H 31 March 2024
IR{E: Cost
R2023FE481H At 1 April 2023 267,854 138,249 259,856 665,959
AE Additions - 33,445 20,993 54,438
& Disposals - (8,897) (35,619) (44,516)
MR2024%€3B831H At 31 March 2024 267,854 162,797 245, 230 675, 881
Z:HrE Accumulated depreciation
R2023F4B1H At 1 April 2023 175,157 94,543 205,260 474,960
FEERE Charge for the year 5,345 13,628 18,897 37,870
e B2 o] Written back on disposals _ (8,837) (34,645) (43,482)
R2024%€3B31H At 31 March 2024 180,502 99,334 189,512 469,348
RESE Net book value
R2024%€3B831H At 31 March 2024 87,352 63,463 55,718 206,533
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7. BREE

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

&= *EHR
0¥ 0¥
BETR BETR
The Group The Council
Software Software
HK$’000 HK$’000
2025%3H31H 31 March 2025
[R1E: Cost
MN2024%F48 1R At 1 April 2024 79,318 79,212
RE Additions 21,944 21,742
= Disposals (48) -
I i Exchange adjustments (3) -
R2025%€3831H At 31 March 2025 101,211 100,954
ZtigygE Accumulated amortisation
R2024F481H At 1 April 2024 60,426 60,333
E R Amortisation for the year 14,677 14,527
Y = 2 [m] Written back on disposals (43) -
T E R Exchange adjustments ) )
R2025%€3831H At 31 March 2025 75,058 74,860
IRESE Net book value
R20254€3831H At 31 March 2025 26,153 26,094
2024%3AH31H 31 March 2024
F{H: Cost
N2023%4818 At 1 April 2023 65,608 65,496
== Additions 13,813 13,813
e Disposals (97) (97)
o B I EK Exchange adjustments (6) -
R2024%3831H At 31 March 2024 79,318 79,212
At Accumulated amortisation
M2023%4H818 At 1 April 2023 51,965 51,869
RS Amortisation for the year 8,563 8,561
& & B Written back on disposals (97) (97)
R Exchange adjustments (5) -
MN2024438318 At 31 March 2024 60,426 60,333
IRESE Net book value
R2024%€3831H At 31 March 2024 18,892 18,879
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8. MMBATMIRE 8. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

SENE
The Council
2025 2024
BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEMRD  MAKEBEE Unlisted shares, at cost 20,010 20,010
B EEEE Less: Impairment loss (1,288) (1,288)
MN3A31H At 31 March 18,722 18,722
S EHRWBATBEAR T RNV FBEMIFTEHRSE  Particulars of the Council's subsidiaries as at the reporting date
B2E1 R B LUK E - are disclosed in note 1.
O ENESREM RS EE 9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
£5E E¥EHR
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETR BT BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
JFE IS BR =R Accounts receivable 11,000 16,869 10,945 16,533
amEE (Mata) Contract assets (note a) 156,004 113,827 155,886 113,014
BRI RIA PN Es 30,611 50,000 25,379 43,282
BHIBA (M EED) ConiEict €98t (noite ) 58,390 69,845 58,390 69,845
¥ & F0 H b B Ui k18 Deposits and other
receivables 154,624 77,726 153,171 77,682
410,629 328,267 403,771 320,356
B RE (B EEC) Less: Impairment (note c) (1,874) (1,549) (1,874) (1,549)
408,755 326,718 401,897 318,807

MR2023F481H  EEMAEEHDBRNEILIR N ERXE The balance of accounts receivable at 1 April 2023 for the Group

o= = . and the Council were HK$17,789,000 and HK$17,397,000
SRl AET17,789,000M%E5517,397,000 respectively.

(a) ARAEE (a) Contract assets
£=
The Group
2025 2024
BETR BET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
B A& EEE R Contract assets arising from

B8 5 AR 75 Consultancy 155,710 113,315
2= Training 247 492
S E T ER Manufacturing support a7 20
EHNEERSE Total contract assets 156,004 113,827
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9.BUIRREEMAREBEE (4

(a) BWEE (8

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

(Continued)

(a) Contract assets (Continued)

$EHR
The Council
2025 2024
BETT BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
B EEELR Contract assets arising from
BB R AR 75 Consultancy 155,592 112,502
=2 Training 247 492
BE XS ERH Manufacturing support a7 20
BHWEERT Total contract assets 155,886 113,014

BNEEVT U IRHEERRE Bl REXXIER
BoOERBEREEEFARIMZWAMER - HUWERA
BREUBRDERENEBRGENL NRERBENED
BOHEIREBNEEIWAZECESTEN»BEREW

MR2023F4B1H SEMEENRNENEERE
2Rl ##%7597,516,00081%5597,314,000

MBEAFAFUEANEENSHAOT :

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from
consultancy, training and manufacturing support as the receipt of
consideration is conditional on successful completion of
performance obligations. Upon completion of performance
obligations, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to accounts receivable.

The balance of contract assets at 1 April 2023 for the Group and
the Council were HK$97,516,000 and HK$97,314,000
respectively.

The expected timing of recovery of the contract assets at the reporting
date is as follows:

£m

The Group
2025 2024
BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
—&E K Within one year 92,273 87,927
E_EREFEARE More than one year and up to five years 63,731 25,900
AU B EMRE Total contract assets 156,004 113,827

EEHR

The Council
2025 2024
BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
—&E K Within one year 92,155 87,113
E_EREFEARE More than one year and up to five years 63,731 25,901
A B EMETE Total contract assets 155,886 113,014
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9. EBUERMRREMREEE (4D

(b) &HIREA
BEALZENRAEAERETEERBANNENY

HHE - RRBEBERMEMRANOKBARRERN - A
mAWXERE -

(o) BIERR R EHNEERE
FEWERRAMNEERNBERBNEDERNT

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
(Continued)

(b) Contract costs

The capitalised contract costs are charged to the consolidated
income and expenditure account on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the related
cost is recognised, when the Group satisfies performance
obligations of respective service contracts.

(c) Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets

The movements in the allowance for impairment of accounts
receivable and contract assets are as follows:

%M

The Group
2025 2024
BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RER At beginning of year 1,549 1,408
ST 3% Impairment losses recognised 325 141
RE R At end of year 1,874 1,549

EENR

The Council
2025 2024
BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$’000
REX At beginning of year 1,549 1,408
ST 38 ] Impairment losses recognised 325 141
RE R At end of year 1,874 1,549

BEIMEEERSREAREABEEMRETERN
EEBEEMET BEXDREBEFHAUBEEAZT
AEFAN BB RXUEE (0 : & F E5H T
R cZETERMBEMEER  ZBHREURR
BEAMAIESEMEEEH  ERIMRARRREE
MARAZEGEMBRENEH - —KRM = » BUWE
RN ER R I8 — F it BOR B AR I AT LU o

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using an
allowance matrix to measure expected credit losses. The allowance
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are
not subject to enforcement activity.
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9. FEWBERREMRHEE (@) 9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
(Continued)

(c) BIEERMRANEERE (8 (c) Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets
(Continued)
LITEEREAREREEWEFNEEREBHER Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
accounts receivable and contract assets using an allowance matrix:
5= The Group
#2025%¢3A31H At 31 March 2025
il ]
Past due
DR —-F =#EA
1@ 8 =EA HBE
BI#l  Less than 1to3 Over BEE
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
TEHRE Bl IEE Expected credit loss rate 0.061% 0.831% 8.766% 43.103% 1.122%
IRmaEE (BEFT) Gross carrying amount 156,208 5,894 1,118 3,784 167,004
(HK$'000)
FEHAE EES1E (B¥ET o) Expected credit losses 96 49 98 1,631 1,874
(HK$'000)
7R2024%€3831H At 31 March 2024
A
Past due
NS —F =@EAB
118 B =EA UE
BN HA Less than 1to 3 Over #RxE
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
JREAE BB R Expected credit loss rate 0.050% 1.407% 1.576% 24.500% 1.186%
IREARE (BT Gross carrying amount 117,336 2,558 5,202 5,600 130,696
(HK$'000)
FAHAE ER51E CB® T IT) Expected credit losses 59 36 82 1,372 1,549
(HK$'000)
5EHR The Council
#2025%3H31H At 31 March 2025
bl
Past due
DR —E =f@A
188 =@EA BE
EPHl  Less than 1to3 Over tagE
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
TREAE BB R Expected credit loss rate 0.061% 0.831% 8.766% 43.378% 1.123%
IREAEE (BETmT) Gross carrying amount 156,059 5,894 1,118 3,760 166,831
(HK$'000)
FTEHAE ERs18 (B¥5T 7o) Expected credit losses 96 49 98 1,631 1,874
(HK$'000)
R2024%E3831H At 31 March 2024
pnb: i
Past due
DR —=F =EA
1188 =EA UE
EDHA Less than 1to 3 Over #2%E
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
TEHAE B IE=R Expected credit loss rate 0.051% 1.407% 1.576% 24.50% 1.196%
IREARE (B¥Tm) Gross carrying amount 116,187 2,558 5,202 5,600 129,547
(HK$'000)
FTEHAE BR518 (B¥ET o) Expected credit losses 59 36 82 1,372 1,549
(HK$'000)
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10. BE ~ |ROTERREHER

(a) e - |ROTERMEHEREHE :

10. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND FIXED DEPOSITS

(a) Cash, bank balances and fixed deposits comprise:

£ E¥ENR
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETRT BETT BETT BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
ZEB%INEWER G Fixed deposits with original
maturities over 3 months
when placed 99,247 297,837 85,628 283,201
WITHERMRE Cash at banks and on hand 387,661 174,550 366,598 155,223
RIRHE 2 Restricted cash 3,182,650 1,388,577 3,182,650 1,388,577
R LA Cash, bank balances and fixed
RITGEAIRE ETHGER4EEE deposits in the statement
of financial position 3,669,558 1, 860,964 3,634,876 1,827,001
ZIREE Restricted cash (3,182,650) (1,388,577) (3,182,650) (1,388,577)
=EABEEHEEHFF  Fixed deposits with original
maturities over 3 months
when placed (99,247) (297,837) (85,628) (283,201)
EFEERERTH Cash and cash equivalents
IWEEEY in the consolidated cash
flow statement 387,661 174,550 366,598 155,223

R2025%3831H ' £ENHBMEBNRITERF B
763,182,650,000 (20244 : #751,388,577,000) °
FRERNRIEBRITERS BERABRABMBGEZE
EENIER - HEGTRNEB BEA LR » REARIE
EEIE A RITERFEENANE—HRERT -

R2025%3A31H EENRTERBEFREREH
Bl NIRRT RIEAAI031,675,000 (2024%F : BT
31,231,000) @ ZEERMERFER F BEEKFH
B B9 1 BE 2 U SR B AE AR EEE -

Cash at banks of the Group and the Council as at 31 March 2025
included HK$3,182,650,000 (2024: HK$1,388,577,000) which was
placed in separate project bank accounts and restricted for the
purpose of projects governed by respective Government funding
schemes. Any unspent funding, together with the interest income
generated in project bank accounts, is returned to the
Government upon completion of the project or termination of the
project agreement.

Cash at banks of the Group as at 31 March 2025 included
HK$31,675,000 (2024: HK$31,231,000) which was placed with
banks in the PRC, the remittance of which is subject to relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.
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10. RE - |ROTERREHER

(b) MEZFHEEN BRI -

(#) 10. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND FIXED DEPOSITS
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liability arising from
financing activities:

TRHAMRBTIERMNEBEESAMRETHMELEMWE  The table below details changes in the Group and the Council’s
S8t OEBESMIIEBESEL - MEIHELNS liabilities from fina»nci_n_g‘ activities, inc\u_ding _both _cas_h and

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

ERIETEHENEXRTBEEBEREXLEXKEAERE liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

I ARMEIHEANESASNElE - classified in the cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
SRR e - activities.
HEa®
Lease liabilities
&= 5ENB
BT BETT
The The
Group Council
HK$’'000 HK$'000
#R2023%F481H At 1 April 2023 636 466
RMERESREMNEL Changes from financing cash flows:
EX{IHERALHERN Capital element of lease rentals paid (530) (466)
EX(THERSNEE Interest element of lease rentals paid (5) _
BB R EEE AR Total changes from financing cash flows (535) (466)

Hith# s - Other changes:
MEZH (M:zE13) Interest expenses (note 13) 5 _
BE &2 U 7% Exchange gain (9) )
Hitbr E 4248 Total other changes (4) .
7202438318 At 31 March 2024 and 97 -
20244818 1 April 2024
RMEREREEL Changes from financing cash flows:

EX{IHERALHER Capital element of lease rentals paid (485) (408)

X MHERESRE Interest element of lease rentals paid (106) (105)
e B4R R Total changes from financing cash flows (591) (513)
HihatsE Other changes:

FXIENR Lease modification 2,293 2,293

MEXZE (ME13) Interest expenses (note 13) 106 105
H b4 5 4R %R Total other changes 2,399 2,398
#R2025%3A31H At 31 March 2025 1,905 1,885
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M. EMERREREMRBRE

11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

| Y¥EHRB
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETFR BETT BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
[EULBR =X Accounts payable 88,961 47,246 87,267 45,839
aREE (Mita) Contract liabilities (note a) 341,413 322,999 339,319 316,407
FE UL FX 18 Receipts in advance
- M EHRES - Government 2,838,833 1,245,817 2,838,833 1,245,817
disbursement funds
- B EBNIEB —Govemtmemfunded 192,980 4,038 192,980 4,038
projects
- Fr8) T AL BRS A BY - New Industrialization 2,983 - 2,983 -
Government Grants
FREERE (MXb) Provision for annual leave
compensation (note b) 9,002 7,994 9,002 7,994
FEAER N EmEMD Accruals and other payables 94,177 85,705 90,687 83,378
3,568,349 1,713,799 3,561,071 1,703,473
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M EMERRREMEHEE @

(a) E¥IRME

11.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(a) Contract liabilities

L] Y5EHRB
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETT BET T BETR BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
e EI=E SRR Short-term advances received
from customers
- BB AR5 - Consultancy 335,802 315,391 333,708 308,799
- & - Training 2,439 3,539 2,439 3,539
- RUESE S IEAR IS - Manufacturing support 3,172 4,069 3,172 4,069
A B ELRE Total contract liabilities 341,413 322,999 339,319 316,407

R2023F48 1B AEBREENRNEHNEELRE
5B ABT306,639,000K#55298,242,000 °
BRBEEHYARBEFTESENAREEBERIAEE
EBEME17 (c) o

AREaEHRIND T

The balance of contract liabilities at 1 April 2023 for the Group
and the Council were HK$306,639,000 and HK$298,242,000
respectively. Refer to note 17(c) for the analysis on decrease in
contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the
year that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning

(b) FBRAEEEE

of the reporting period.

(b) Provision for annual leave compensation

EEMEEHR
The Group and the Council

2025 2024

BBTR BETT

HK$’000 HK$’000

REH) At beginning of year 7,994 8,773
IR Provision made 21,600 18,562
2B B B E Utilised in the year (20,592) (19,341)
RNEFR At end of year 9,002 7,994

RE (BEEH) RBER-—FNEETZFEELLX
FR((BEEZPARAREBY)  BEZtXEFREARTE
E—RABFAMNEEBF  NMEMNEESBRER 9=
EFEREES  BIHUIKER B BB R £ B /Y F R
BENRERE FRECHEE/EEEREHR

HAREAFROERIBAMETIRE °

12 FEUR/ BB Bt B 2 B 7R IE

U/ IHBARRERERR  AFE

REREE -

BIZBEMRE R FERE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024-25

Under the Employment Ordinance, staff members who have
completed a full year of services are entitled to take at least seven
days of leave (including Sundays and Public Holidays) consecutively
within one calendar year. Any staff member who leaves his or her
employment is entitled to annual leave compensation. She/He is
entitled to receive in cash the annual leave pay earned but not
utilised. Provision is made for the employees' untaken annual leave
balances at the reporting date.

12.AMOUNTS DUE FROM / TO SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from / to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.
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13. EHEEE

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) £H (a) The Group
REEHNIOMNERAREERAZES AT ¢ The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:
maz=
®iE HEYE
BT BETR -
Office Leased BETT
equipment properties Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE2023F481H At 1 April 2023 424 145 569
FEITE Depreciation for the year (424) (61) (485)
HE ) E Exchange adjustments } (8) (8)
BE2024%3A31H At 31 March 2024 and - 76 76
fM2024F481H 1 April 2024
NE Addition 2,293 _ 2,293
FEITE Depreciation for the year (459) (60) (519)
o E ) E Exchange adjustments ) ) )
BZE2025%3H31H At 31 March 2025 1,834 16 1,850
(b) £ENRB (b) The Council
IREEMANE PN EHEEESEERZSES AT - The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:
WAZE
e
BETR
Office
equipment
HK$’000
R2023F4R1H At 1 April 2023 424
FERE Depreciation for the year (424)
20243831 BFM2024%F4H81H At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 -
NE Addition 2,293
FENME Depreciation for the year (459)
R2025%3831H At 31 March 2025 1,834

EEMAEEHDRBRECEAEERZESERARENY The Council and the Group have obtained the right to use the
LEEZNATPRASHER o HELBEAIESE o office equipment and a property as the office for a subsidiary

FrEEN T BEATEBEE TR -

through a tenancy agreement. The leases typically runs for an
initial period of 3 to 5 years. None of the leases includes variable
lease payments.

£E £5EDR
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETR BETT BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
HEaEf A Interest on lease liabilities 106 5 105 =
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13. EREEE (8

M2025F3A3THLEFE  AERAEBEREREE
ES o DBIRHEIT2,293,000 (2024F - &) KB
762,293,000 (2024%F : &) - ZTHERBES
MARBHERZERCTNERNCHELTRER -

M2025%3B31HLEEE ABRAEENHERERN
LAREE S B A HET512,000 (20244 : B75466,000)
K& #&5591,000 (2024% : #5535,000) -

HEABEHHPDMOFBEHNEEETS -

14. HHEGE

TERBERTEENRBNAGARIMAURAERE
REMERBNHEEEE -

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2025, addition to right-of use
assets of the Council and the Group were HK$2,293,000 (2024:
HKS$ Nil) and HK$2,293,000 (2024: HK$ Nil) respectively. This
amount related to the capitalised lease payments payable under
renewed office equipment rental agreement.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflow for
leases of the Council and the Group were HK$512,000 (2024:
HK$466,000) and HK$591,000 (2024: HK$535,000) respectively.

Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in

note 14.

14. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Council and the Group's lease liabilities at

the end of the reporting period:

(a) & (a) The Group
2025 2024
HEMRWRE HEMCGRWEE
BT T THE T FR4E%E BT  HEIREE
Present value BT Present value BETT
of the lease Total lease of the lease Total lease
payments Payment payments Payment
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1ER Within 1 year 452 532 77 78
1FEBEBE2ERN After 1 year but within 2 years 457 512 20 20
DFEBEBABIBSE After 2 years but within 5 years 996 1,025 - -
1,453 1,537 20 20
1,905 2,069 97 98
B Less:
RACA B 4EEE total future interest expenses (164) (1)
HEBERE Present value of lease liabilities 1,905 97

BIZBEMRE R FERE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024-25
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14. HE&RE @

14. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) 5EHB (b) The Council
2025 2024
FHEREVIRE FHETREVIRE
BT MHECRERE BT HECREE
Present value BT T Present value BT T
of the lease  Total lease of the lease Total lease
payments Payment payments Payment
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1ERK Within 1 year 432 512 - -
1TEEZBBE2ER After 1 year but within 2 years 457 512 - -
DEBBABIBSE After 2 years but within 5 years 996 1,025 - -
1,453 1,537 = -
1,885 2,049 - -
E - RERF) B X H4EZE Less: total future interest
expenses (164) -
HESERE Present value of 1,885 -

lease liabilities
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15. B8&% 15. TOTAL FUNDS
£H EEHB
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETFT BETT BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEAREE (Wik(a)) Capital subvention fund (note a) 81,892 87,291 81,892 87,291
W ANEBYEEE (MFsE(b))  Revenuereserve (noteb) 674,094 610,925 648,837 587,746
755,986 698,216 730,729 675,037
BEHE (W:E() Exchange reserve (note ) (535) (306)
755,451 697,910
JEfEpRAERE (BiEE(d)) Non-controlling 2,369 2,122
interests (note d)
757,820 700,032

(a) EXEBHE (a) Capital subvention fund
SEMEEHR
The Group and the Council
2025 2024
BETT BETIT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
REH At beginning of year 87,291 92,969
EAWEZER Transfer from income and expenditure account (5,399) (5,678)
REXR At end of year 81,892 87,291
(b) WK AEBhEE (b) Revenue reserve
47| $EHB
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETRT BETIT BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
REH At beginning of year 610,925 536,031 587,746 517,539
EBAWZERE Surplus for the year 63,169 74,894 61,091 70,207
REXR At end of year 674,094 610,925 648,837 587,746

WABBRBREA T CHREBREENBRN R R/

BsiRMMER L °

This reserve was created for the purpose of recording the

Group's and the Council's accumulated surplus or deficit.
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15. REE (#0)
(c) MERE

15. TOTAL FUNDS (Continued)

(c) Exchange reserve

$H
The Group

2025 2024

BETR BETT

HK$’000 HK$'000

NE At beginning of year (306) 1,049
MEPEEFMBHRERVERSESRE  Exchange differences on translation of financial

statements of operations in the PRC (229) (1,355)

WEX At end of year (535) (306)

RERRBEERET BRI EBY B ERRMELNRR
BEXRLZHE-

(d) JEi=prEs

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange

differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong.

(d) Non-controlling interests

&=

The Group
2025 2024
BETR BETTT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REX At beginning of year 2,122 2,003
JEIL R E Share of exchange reserve (19) (115)
FEERELRS Share of surplus for the year 266 234
RE R At end of year 2,369 2,122

16. BEMIFERIEA & Bh
FEBFEZEWB)

RERFEEENDBE2020FE58 258857 (7K
ZHESE) ([HEEEE] ) FI 1K £EHBRAU
BREERFELEMPHEMBNEERBELEH
B TmEEMERE ZREEKEASEREENDBR
FHVBEENMSNEFERREEFPENIS% °
2024/2025FEEMN B ERBFEAER FHZE O
EEMNEFHENBEEEZMBEABT0.3481EF
(2023/2024%E : #550.26618) RAHAB T %L
IREMNBTSS0EMNHEEIE - WHIBARI AFEEREEM
B o 2024 /2025FEEMN BN EE/mDBREAB T
2.19018 (2023/2024%E : Bx2.1778) - £&E
DR ERBERAEEAFTENUTEEZHEAME
SR EEE®ME -

2024/2025FEBEAEHBNBBHMB 2N KX RE
M EBRATIER (2023/2024FE : BE) -

16. GOVERNMENT SUBVENTION FOR RECURRENT ACTIVITIES

Annual block grant

In accordance with paragraph 8.1 of the Memorandum of Administrative Arrangement
("MAA”") dated 25 May 2020 signed between the Government and the Council, the
Coundil is allowed to keep any savings from its annual block grant as reserves. At any
one point in time the level of accumulated savings from the Council's annual block
grant shall not exceed 15% of its annual block grant in the current financial year. The
government subvention for the year of 2024/2025 includes the grant from Innovation
and Technology Fund for Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D Centre of
HK$34.8 million (2023/24: HK$26.6 million) and for New Industrialization of HK$5.8
million which are not classified as annual block grant. Regarding the grant for New
Industrialization, only HK$3 million is recognized as income and the remaining balance
of HKD2.8 million is recorded deferred income during the year. The total block grant of
the Council for the year of 2024/25 was HK$219.0 million (2023/24: HK$217.7 million).
The annual block grant from the Government in the current and prior years has been
fully expended by the Council in accordance with the MAA.

The annual block grant of the Council for the year of 2024/2025 was entirely
accounted for as Government subvention income in the income and expenditure
account (2023/24: same).
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17. BRFFBUA

17. SERVICE INCOME

&8 EEHRB
The Group The Council
" 2025 2024 2025 2024
ME merw smTw BETR  BETR
Note HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
KEHEEAHZIA Revenue from contracts
with customers
- FERI AR 75 - Consultancy 851,767 718,897 823,627 682,281
- & - Training 10,832 12,592 10,796 12,557
- BHEETERE - Manufacturing support 16,378 16,637 16,378 16,637
-EEeRERE - Exhibitions and study mission 3,979 5,921 2,970 4,874
-EHBEEEEBIEE - HongKong Jockey Club (a) 1,889 7,119 1,889 7,119
funded project
KEBEFAHZHEULA  Totalrevenue from (b) 884, 845 761,166 855,660 723,468
contracts with
customers
B E WA Grantincome 99,790 86,676 99,790 86,676
- B fEBhIE B - Government funded projects
984,635 847,842 955,450 810,144

(a) BE2025F3A31ALEE £EHREWRIES
ERBREETELB 4,684,000 (2023/24

# :%756,379,000)

C AR XS IREUN A IR

ERBRMARRBME N RREE -

(b) R UT A RY B

(a) Allocation from The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust is
for operating an information technology consultancy service
and capacity building programme for non-governmental
organisations and HK$4,684,000 (2023/24: HK$6,379,000)

has been received during the year ended 31 March 2025.

(b) Timing of revenue recognition

£H £¥ENR

The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETR BETT BETT BETITT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
RE— RS Ata pointin time 199,761 149,371 199,761 149,371
& B5 P #E 7% Overtime 685,084 611,795 655,899 574,097
RKEBEFEHZHBUA Total revenue from 884,845 761,166 855,660 723,468

contracts with customers
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17. RIBEA (8

() TRETHRABREHMEDIUASEE - HNME

17. SERVICE INCOME (Continued)

(c) Revenue recognised in the current reporting period that was included in

B At AR EER - contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
2025 L] EENB
BT BETR
The The
Group Council
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERI AR5 Consultancy 103,078 101,256
2l Training 2,563 2,563
BIE T ERK Manufacturing support 3,457 3,457
109,098 107,276
2024 £E EENB
BETT BETT
The The
Group Council
HK$'000 HK$'000
8 i AR 75 Consultancy 168,824 161,759
b=l Training 3,485 3,485
RGEX L ERS Manufacturing support 2 936 2 936
175,245 168,180

MR2025%3A31H SEFAEEREENREES
HNIETHRETEBNRZERBEINABE T
341,413,000(2024% : #75322,999,000) & T
339,319,000 (20244 : #55316,407,000) - B&L%
ERXEEXBETTHEZFEITNEMRSE - 53l
5 FR [ AR 75 15 :E B UR A+ Sk A% T R BR & R HA A FE ER A
WA o

(d) BHEE

AR -ESHBBERNEATNES RO EETHAER
BREZHTIZERL - BB HIERERNIAMES » BHEERE
ERMEBBOKRBEMER - —RERBRBATEX
BEXTREATAMLK

18. EfRUTA

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group
and the Council’s existing contracts is HK$341,413,000 (2024:
HK$322,999,000) and HK$339,319,000 (2024: HK$316,407,000)
respectively. These amounts represent income from consultancy,
training or manufacturing support services agreements entered into
between the Group or the Council and their customers, and will be
recognised as income over the remaining contractual period.

(d) Performance obligations

For service income recognised at a point in time, the performance obligation
is satisfied upon delivery of services. For service income recognised over time,
the performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered.
Short-term advances are normally required before rendering the services.

18. OTHER INCOME

$£H $EHR

The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BT T BT T BT BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
GEESLON Rental income 6,478 6,635 6,478 6,635
A B g A ‘S“L}géer;ti'nnéor;ﬂee 12,314 12,877 12,080 12,635
HMIE A 9,690 11,495 9,657 11,348
B FF 763 B Government grants 507 14,304 507  14.304
28,989 45,311 28,722 44,922
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19. BE#HE

19. STAFF EMOLUMENTS

&E EEHRB
The Group The Council

2025 2024 2025 2024

BETRT BETT BETR BETT

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

& ROF B E Salaries and variable pay 520,444 455,934 507,740 445,814

= Gratuities 3,514 2,934 3,514 2,934

BB THE - BE R R EAMEAL Overtime, subsistence and 18,407 17,016 18,407 17,016
other allowances

BEEZRA—FEMHFETE] Pension costs - defined 40,109 33,243 40,109 33,243
contribution plans

BEREEN T E Medical benefits scheme 9,707 7,996 9,707 7,996

592,181 517,123 579,477 507,003

BrEdfish - BEX HHBIT32,262,000 (2024%F : Bt
42,567,000) Bt AEBREENRBEERBLL -

20. SHREEAEHM

SREEANERERERREEDBREMRE KR
MEH (e 24 BVRMNNABEZHER) &5

In addition to the above, staff costs amounting to HK$32,262,000 (2024:
HK$42,567,000) have been charged to project related expenses of the Group

and the Council.

20. SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The aggregate remuneration (salaries, allowances, benefits-in-kind and provident
fund contributions) received by the senior management for their services rendered

to the Group and the Council are listed as follows:

mE
SEMEEHR
The Group and the Council
2025 2024
BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
e Salary, wages and other benefits 17,436 14,415
33 2 3 B Variable pay 2,660 2,529
IRIRET 20 Retirement scheme contributions 82 72
20,178 17,016

FilmxsvesREBASRBEZABRFHMEEMT

The number of senior management whose remuneration is within

the following bands is as follows:

EENMEELR
The Group and the Council

2025 2024
#553,500,000LLF Below HK$3,500,000 2 -
#7553,500,001 E#7554,500,000 HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3 3
#554,500,001 E#755,500,000 HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,500,000 _ 1
#755,500,001 2Z%756,000,000 HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 )
(] 4
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21 EENRESEEXRENEM 21. REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

MRER SENDBREFFELREMEBESEREYEFEME  During the year, the Chairman and other members of the Council did not

EHBIEHNBEWETMER (20244 : =) o rNe”(:f\ve any remuneration for their services rendered to the Council (2024:
22. HipZ 22. OTHER EXPENSES
£E SENE
The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BBTR BETT BETR BT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
—MRITBE T General and administrative 89,212 65,304 87,401 63,331
expenses
18 BRI X 1 Project related expenses 453,544 421,714 442,339 402,196
HEMZE - BEMRMEEIE Loss on disposals of property, 349 977 332 946
. B plant and equipment
BREENLERIE Loss on disposals of intangible asset 5 - - -
TE Depreciation
- BEMERE - property, plant and equipment 43,750 38,052 43,715 37,870
EREEE - right-of-use assets 519 485 459 424
RS B Amortisation of intangible assets 14,677 8,563 14,527 8,561
HEaEZNE Interest expense on 106 5 105 -
lease liabilities
3 il Auditor's remuneration 935 1,067 548 531
MIEE T Sundry expenses 16,826 14,671 16,224 14,048
619,923 550,838 605,650 527,907
23. FifEM 23. INCOME TAX
(a) BAWMZEETHAEBRA : (a) Income tax in the consolidated income and expenditure

account represents:

]
The Group
2025 2024
BETR BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
AHA-F B LI Current tax — outside Hong Kong
FERE Provision for the year 131 115

HREEHRERBREESTH (RIBIEH ) £871F  The Council is not subject to Hong Kong profits tax as the Council has been

N D = I0TE y 4 T 3k ] 12D o granted exemption from all Hong Kong taxes by the Inland Revenue
MEMMAREERR  FULBRBMETENER Department under Section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.

HREEIBRBNEEWEBATINREEZ2025423H31H No provision for Hong Kong profits tax for the Council's Hong Kong

@ 20 : N = TN subsidiaries has been made as they did not have assessable profit during the
fﬁ’g ng Fiﬁ MERN  RERELEEBNBSRBE o ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
20244 : H) -
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23. FrfSiR (8

(a) AWK IREFRTHMEKRA :

23. INCOME TAX (Continued)

RBEABE  BERWHFHEFB2022FE 135 ~ 2023 According

FHEOY - 2023FEBI12RAE (E—
CEEARNRE R EA
EABBARK and Micro

Mainland subsidiaries are charged at a reduced

EEHREZTKRRE)

ARMTRER-Y : FEMAMAE

7“/':%& \TAQJJ:

Implementing

to the Announcement of No.13
(2023) and No.

&) (a) Income tax in the consolidated income and
expenditure account represents: (Continued)

(2022),
12 (2023) issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Taxation Administration of the PRC,
Income Tax Preferential Policies for Small
Enterprises”, the tax rate for

No.6
“Further

the Council's
rate as

1008 T BZE25EMW25% (2024F + 25%) below: for the annual taxable profits not exceeded RMB1

?*ﬂiﬂl CHER20% (20245 ¢

F:25%) MR e

(b) MBI HEEFRERLL

20%)
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ}\ﬁmﬂOO%JE{ETEEEA)\E““BOO%?D

P RZAHEMN25% (20244 ¢
’VZ%20%>(2024¢, 20%)
BBARBI0OOBTH  R25%KM=E (2024 25% (2024: 25%).

BRAREELORRE:

tax rate of 20%
exceeded RMB1

25%) B

. mam 20% (2024
PA
P EEMBAEE RuB3 million,

(2024: 20%);
million but less than RMB3 million,
(2024 25%) of such amount is taxable with a tax rate of
for annual taxable profits
such amount will be taxable at a tax rate of

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting surplus at applicable tax rates:

;G FE AR million, 25% (2024: 25%) of such amount is taxable with a
for annual taxable profits
25%

exceeded

%5
The Group

2025 2024

BETR BETT

HK$’000 HK$'000

&R BI & e Surplus before taxation 58,167 69,565
RIBEFLEERERARE Notional tax on surplus before taxation,

HEBRRIIBRGNEZERE calculated at rates applicable in the

jurisdictions concerned 9,398 10,753

/ﬁ%ﬁuikﬁlﬁﬁl ?3 Tax effect of non-taxable income (204,855) (181,438)

AR K0 32 R AR TE 52 £ Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 195,588 170,800

BERRIES L Income tax expense 131 115

(c) FAMBIKRREARELS :

(c) Movement in tax payable in the consolidated

statement of financial position:

£m

The Group
2025 2024
BETR BETIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
) At beginning of year 35 46
EEEBE Provision for the year 131 115
B REDERER PRC corporate income tax paid (140) (107)
o 5 A Exchange adjustments 1) (19)
REFR At end of year 25 35
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23. FrfSR (8

(d) EEREEEHAE :

EREHR EEEMERBELYAHET1,986,000
(20244 : #351,895,000) /BRI Z S LIRHBEN
B AT RRRERRAE - EIRERS > HNEKER
EREERHARFEZRHRABIHIKMNMIEEE - AU
RUHZREFEBERDELERBEE - o] BEKINRIEAE
BE (EPERHEBAREEN Y BERIDIRIEERE
RN FTEMRIIAERINZEEREENRBATNE
KIERKFE - FEAMHBAT B AN T BIERINR
EE5E A 94,000 (20244 : #57562,000) @ B
AEATE -

RIBEEPMBSRERBERES  PEFEHNASRERLR
MAERBEBIRAR B RIS - BXEGANERIEE
EESIN [EEREE ] REEXNVOANEMEE
HEHEARIEE - BRI EHEBBRARZIEELE
EWHREERME  AZZFMNEHRBKIENRHE
TR ERIERT  RERAMMEARRRIIEETR
DEMNBREERIONHAEBEMHEMEHMIAMMR -
AEBBERNMRELI10% - GOV BHRRILEL T E
M A = Rt R 493%5519,721,000 (20244 : B 7w
17,462,000) MERMEERARELERIBRR

BEEREED  PEANBMEARDN2025F3831
HM2024F3831HNRDEEMNAFTAE BIREARE
BeoRAN ARAEEBRREHEHZEHEZEZERY
i BERBUZEETRENRETSED - Fit
AEESRAAEERETERG R REANOFANR
FHREEFISIAE o

E@EMN2025F3831HM2024F3831 Hib 2B F
MHNEBEBRREERIEAE -

24. KiE

AHRER  HARRGAEVBHRERAEEN

23. INCOME TAX (Continued)

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses of approximately
HK$ 1,986,000 (2024: HK$1,895,000) that are available for offsetting against
future taxable profits of subsidiaries in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these tax losses as, in the
opinion of the management, it is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. Unused
tax losses (except those related to a subsidiary in China) can be carried
forward without time limit. The subsidiary in China has unused tax losses of
HK$94,000(2024: HK$62,000) which will expire in five years.

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulations, PRC withholding income
tax is applicable to interest and dividends payable to investors that are
“non-tax resident enterprises”, which do not have an establishment or place
of business in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business
but the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment
or place of business, to the extent such interest or dividends have their
sources within the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends distributed
from the PRC subsidiaries to off-shore group entities shall be subject to the
withholding tax at 10% or a lower treaty rate. For the Group, the applicable
tax rate is 10%. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$19,721,000 (2024: HK$17,462,000).

The Members of the Council affirm that the undistributed earnings of the PRC
subsidiaries as of 31 March 2025 and 2024 will be reserved for the expansion
of operations. Consequently, the Group has not provided for the deferred tax
liabilities in respect of withholding tax on the remaining undistributed
earnings of the Group's PRC entities as the Group is capable of controlling the
timing of reversal of such temporary difference, and it is highly likely that
such temporary difference would not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

The Group has no material deferred tax liabilities requiring recognition as at
31 March 2025 and 2024.

24. COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at the reporting date

BARKIENT not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:
EENMEENR
The Group and the Council

2025 2024

BETT BEBTT

HK$’000 HK$’000

B4 Contracted for 26,756 37,713
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25. BRERESNEMIA

BHERSH  BEJHEMIENKRTSENT ¢

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each category of financial
instruments as at the reporting date are as follows:

EMEE £ ESEHR
Financial assets The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETT BT T EBETT BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
LBER AT ENEMEE Financial assets at
amortised cost
FE UK BE =X Accounts receivable 11,000 16,869 10,945 16,533
2 & N E b FE U FRIE Deposits and other receivables 154,624 77,726 153,171 77,682
e RITHER M EHFFR Cash, bank balances and
(MFEE10) fixed deposits (note 10) 3,669,558 1,860,964 3,634,876 1,827,001
S NGIE Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 2,124 1,761
3,835,182 1,955,559 3,801,116 1,922,977
BN £= EENB
Financial liabilities The Group The Council
2025 2024 2025 2024
BETR BT T BETT BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
LB AstENEREME Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
BIEEEIRR KA EAMRE Financial liabilities included
BECMEAE in accounts payable and other 3,226,936 1,390,800 3,221,752 1,387,066
PR R current liabilities
HEBE (M:E14) Lease liabilities (note 14) 1,905 97 1,885 -
FEAT b BB A B 7118 Amounts due to subsidiaries - - 13,058 13,193
3,228,841 1,390,897 3,236,695 1,400,259

26. ERAEAREERAREME

EEEERERBRPEELRFE  APED XK
SINERR c BEEREZRBERBMOMBEBEBERRRA
MIAER - BRI -

(a) EEER

EENEERRIZRARITER  ERER  aNEE
FRUGRR - EEEEHEFEER  tAKERERREE
B BREEE

BR2025F3 /31 HM2024#3 831 H 8 &= /7 B2 K F

AEPEER

TER&IN2025F3831HM2024F 3831 HERAK
EENEERENGEEZREEERAR (E2ER
BHEN  RIEHBENITEEAMERNL ERALE
AWERTER) REMAKRIE -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest-rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group's business. The Group's exposure to these risks
and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bank balances, fixed
deposits, contract assets and accounts receivable. Management has a credit
policy in place and exposure to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March 2025
and 2024

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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26. TiEREERAREE (B

(a) EERAR (@)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

&M
The Group
+={EA
FaH
EAEX
Exposure to 12-month ZHFEHEBEE
expected creditloss Exposure to lifetime expected credit losses
(5} (-3¢
B SE2PEER E3EER BETR A%
BETR BETR BT  Simplified BETT
R As at 31 March 2025

#2025%3A318 Asa are Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
JE i B 2 x Accounts receivable* - - - 11,000 11,000
AUWBE Contract assets* - - - 156,004 156,004

IREFEMFEISRIE Deposits and other receivables

SIEERT - Normal** 154,624 - - - 154,624
WL RITGEARE Cash, bank balances,
EHIZ = and fixed deposits 3,669,558 - - - 3,669,558
3,824,182 = - 167,004 3,991,186
+—@A
FEHA
EHEX
Exposure to 12-month 2 HIFEEREEBIE
expected credit loss Exposure to lifetime expected credit losses
17 %
B 1R B2MEER E3MEER BETT At
o — Ny s gy o — . . eor —
12024438318 As at 31 March 2024 BT T BETT BT TT Simplified BT T
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
& UK BE 1~ Accounts receivable* = = = 16,869 16,869
BHEE Contract assets* - - - 113,827 113,827
IS MEMEYZIE Deposits and other receivables
SE R rk - Normal** 77,726 - - - 77,726
e~ RITHEALR Cash, bank balances,
TEEFER and fixed deposits 1,860,964 - - - 1,860,964
1,938,690 = = 130,696 2,069,386

TAAEEERBEMENEURRMAMNEEMS @+ UBEE
EAERNEHNMBHRRMETIOME -

PEHATRMEENAEMABEEYEAPE Y BEENETIZETE
MEEBDRBERLERNEERRAE AR  ZEEENFEER
EHRB [EB] -

HR202543H831H  EBAKREFNERRIGERIRRBEDN
60% (2024%F :51%) -

R202543A31H  EEMAAREFNANEELGNEEREN
77% (2024%F : 71%) -

BREBEGERRNE-FHEN  JIRRMEEI -

*For accounts receivable and contract assets to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 9.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in other current assets are
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

As at 31 March 2025, 60% (2024: 51%) of the total accounts receivable was due from
the Group’s five largest customers.

As at 31 March 2025, 77% (2024: 71%) of the total contract assets related to the
Group's five largest customers.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from accounts receivable and contract assets are set out in note 9.
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26. EREAREERAREME (W)

(a) EEER (@

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(a) Creditrisk (Continued)

5EHR
The Council
+=@EAB
FEHA
#2025%£3H31H As at 31 March 2025 ERRX
Exposure to 12-month 2HIFEHEEEE
expected credit loss Exposure to lifetime expected credit losses
iR (=P S
1B HE2MEE 3L BETR aF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  Simplified BT
BETR BETR BETR approach Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE UG BE 20 * Accounts receivable* - - - 10,945 10,945
BHNEE Contract assets™ - - - 155,886 155,886
S I ENGIER Amount due from subsidiaries 2124 _ - . 2124
e MEMEWENIE Deposits and other receivables
SIEETE - Normal** 153,171 - - - 153,171
L RITGEHZRE Cash, bank balances,
THIF and fixed deposits 3,634,876 = o o 3,634,876
3,790,171 - - 166,831 3,957,002
+_@H
FEEA
IEVEEEES
A
#2024%3R31H A EANLE el P, Exposure to 12-month 2 HIFEHRIS B k518
expected creditloss  Exposure to lifetime expected credit losses
L5 &
FE1BSER FE2BEER E3PEER BETT At
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Simplified BET T
BETT BETT BETT approach Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE Ui B 2% Accounts receivable* - - - 16,533 16,533
BHEE Contract assets* - . - 113,014 113,014
A NG R/ Amount due from subsidiaries 1761 _ _ _ 1761
IS MMEMEUGIE Deposits and other receivables
-IEE Y - Normal** 77,682 = - - 77,682
L RITEARLE Cash, bank balances,
TEHE and fixed deposits 1,827,001 - - - 1,827,001
1,906,444 = = 129,547 2,035,991

TRAEENRERBEMCENBURERMEGNEEMS » UG
BEDERNENNMBRRMFIME -

EFATMEENEMCADEET BB EENBERZES
MEERDRBRILRNEERARRELAR ZFEENGFEEZ
FHAB [EH]

R2025%3A31H » AENBEKREF Y FE W ERR G FE IR KA
FEM60% (20244 : 51%) -

R2025%3A31H AENBREAEFNANEELANEER
EMT77% (2024%F : 71%)

BAS 22 2 0 5 2R A8 B KBBR8 X L IR 2 — 5 BUR 47 - B AR Y
LR

*For accounts receivable and contract assets to which the Council applies the simplified
approach forimpairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note
9,

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in other current assets are
considered to be "normal" when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

As at 31 March 2025, 60% (2024: 51%) of the total accounts receivable was due from
the Council's five largest customers.

As at 31 March 2025, 77% (2024: 71%) of the total contract assets related to the
Council's five largest customers.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Council 's exposure to credit risk
arising from accounts receivable and contract assets are set out in note 9.
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26. EREAREERAREME (W)

(b) RENE & B BR

FENHERTHEEABASTR - URREBTRN
RLEE - EHIBSAOMERAETEROEEMNT -

TRANEFTEMBZEENRBKRERA ZHGAMNEE
B WHREBETOXRBERRENE (BELUTHA X
RREZAEXY  EAEFHAX . AISBRERER 8
PAEAELIMNEXL) RAEBREENRIRETE
URZEFERABMEE -

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to satisfy its contractual and reasonably
foreseeable obligations as they fall due.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group and the
Council can be required to pay.

2025
ECHED) i
KRIFIR —&(8
REeRE R—%R MEWE
Total BEEER  More than
IREfEE contractual Within 1 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted year oron less than 2
amount cash flows demand years
BETR BETR BETR BETR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
§H The Group
HEa®E (WE14) k_ease'_‘aﬁ"_"'tloi?t_(”o?e‘“2 " 1,905 2,069 532 1,537
E {1 B %/-, = Et INnancial liapllities iIncludea in
’gjﬁggﬁgggh"@ A accounts payable and other 3,226,936 3,226,936 3,226,936 -
=IRLMIERIR current liabilities
3,228,841 3,229,005 3,227,468 1,537
EENE The Council
HEaE (ME14) k?ase',‘a‘t’l‘,"gﬁﬁﬁmoie‘1‘2 T 1,885 2,049 512 1,537
= BE h = 5t inancial liabilities included in
E}EE{!@?:‘;Q&A% T accounts payable and other 3,221,752 3,221,752 3,221,752 -
AEZMBRE current liabilities
FEAS T BB A B R IB Amounts due to subsidiaries 13,058 13, 058 13,058 -
3,236,695 3,236,859 3,235,322 1,537

54 B BAMIR S R E INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2024-25



26. SREAREERAREME B

(b) mBEZER (&)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

2024
HETAY ik
ESiiE) —F{8
RERE R—ER NBWE
Total HEEK More than
IREEE contractual Within 1 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than 2
amount cash flows demand years
BETT BETT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
&= The Group
HEAE (M:E14) Lease liabilities (note 14) 97 99 79 20
BEEEMESE Financial liabilities included in
HimEnBE <M FBFEME  accounts payable and other 1,390,800 1,390,800 1,390,800 -
current liabilities
1,390,897 1,390,899 1,390,879 20
$EHRB The Council
BIEEEMESE Financial liabilities included in 1,387,066 1,387,066 1,387,066 -
HREBECM#FEEE  accounts payable and other
current liabilities
FEAS T BB A B R IB Amounts due to subsidiaries 13,193 13,193 13,193 -
1,400,259 1,400,259 1,400,259 -

(c) F=aE R

EENRRBA BRI EE R EE R

(d) shEs = kR

EEHBRA BRI #ERINE E KR

(e) EXERE

EEAAEN [EX] BEEE
ErRERREEMERARETRIEBRELENRS

FEERIRABER o

CEEBEANEZEERREEEBRENF

o

o

Az

WG

DK EREBBENRA RARKZAEIHNEE -

SERREENEAEERTE  THRERREEEEN
BARGEE  GEAFERUNEE  £EHBRE( MM

BARBEITIIREIMNE KRR ERARIR -

EMPRBEHERBY - &

T LT RK
FEF S

(c) Interest rate risk

The Council considers that there is no significant exposure to interest rate risk.

(d) Currency risk

The Council considers that there is no significant exposure to currency risk.

(e) Capital management

The Group defines "capital" as including all components of total funds. Trading balances
that arise as a result of trading transactions with other group companies are not regarded

by the Group as capital.

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due

for the foreseeable future.

The Group's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the Group. Neither the Council nor its subsidiaries are

subject to externally imposed capital requirement in the current and prior years.
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27. AR S

BRAMBRESABRENZ S RAAGRIN EBH G ERF
RETUTHEBSRS ¢

EENBNEEETHNERABUFITHRREEE - HNK
WA HEEDRERBERLEH WM EEDBEBF
ZENXSHERABEH IS WRAKRE RS
T FR AENRBEHBFREENREREMEE
TRIEBME RS

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group entered into the following related party transactions during the
year:

Council Membership of the Council is appointed by the Chief Executive of the
Government. The Government has significant influence over the Council, and
transactions between the Council and the Government are considered to be related
party transactions and are identified separately in these financial statements. During
the year, the Council had the following related party transactions with the Government
and Council Members:

2025 2024

BETR BETT

HK$’000 HK$'000

WWEREL T EBY - BRREE M EE) Receipt of government subvention used for recurrent Activities 256,647 244,373
BSR4 Bh Government grant 507 14,304
KEBFORFEWA (MsEa) Service income from the Government (note a) 352,886 255,256
REWMFEBEBENOWA (MiEb) Service income from government funding schemes (note b) 219,355 172,167
WMABEEHRESZSSRKEFEAIKEIE Income from entities related to members of the Council 767 2,503
HEABSEEHBREEEREFRAEIE Purchases from entities related to members of the Council 1,511 3,269
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Notes:

(a) The service income from the Government relates to projects in environmental
management, technology development, information technology, business
management, secretariat projects with the Government, etc.,, which were obtained
either by a competitive process or through partnership agreements with various
government departments and bureaus, and the income was charged in accordance
with the terms of the agreements.

(b) The service income from government funding schemes relates to projects in
research and development (excluding projects acting as implementation agent) and
secretariat projects which were obtained by a competitive process or through
agreements with Innovation and Technology Commission, and the income was
charged in accordance with the terms of the agreements.
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